Annu. Rev. Nutr. 1996. 16:349-82 Copyright © 1996 by Annual Reviews Inc. All rights reserved

CHOLESTEROL POLICY AND THE PRIMARY PREVENTION OF CORONARY DISEASE: Reflections on Clinical and Population Strategies

C. David Naylor^{1,2} and J. Michael Paterson²

¹Clinical Epidemiology Unit and Department of Medicine, Division of General Internal Medicine, Sunnybrook Health Science Centre, University of Toronto, and ²The Institute for Clinical Evaluative Sciences in Ontario, Toronto, Ontario, Canada M4N 3M5

KEY WORDS: dyslipidemias, cholesterol, primary prevention, clinical guidelines, population based, coronary heart disease

ABSTRACT

Despite billions of dollars spent on targeted and population-wide strategies aimed at reducing human consumption of saturated fat and cholesterol, aspects of the diet-heart connection remain a source of debate. At least part of the uncertainty arises from a growing appreciation that the relationship between dietary habits, serum lipids, and atherosclerosis is more complex than was previously thought. While we wait for answers from clinical and basic research, what is to be done? This review examines evidence about clinical policies and population strategies for the primary prevention of coronary disease, with specific reference to diet and dyslipidemias. It also summarizes some current policies and offers conclusions about broad directions for further policy development.

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	350
CLINICAL AND POPULATION STRATEGIES: COMPLEMENTARY	
PREVENTIVE PARADIGMS	350
Impact on Surrogate and Clinical Endpoints	351
Evidence Pertinent to Clinical Strategies	352
Current Clinical Guidelines	357
Population Strategies: The Problem of Definition and Evaluation	363
General Population Policies and Trends	363
Evidence for the Effectiveness of Specific Population Strategies	365
Should the Boundaries be Blurred Between Clinical and Population Strategies?	368

349

CHALLENGES AND OPPORTUNITIES	369
Compliance With Recommended Low-Fat Diets	369
Framing the Numbers: What Do Patients Think?	370
Implementing Cholesterol Policy: What Do We Know?	371
CONCLUSIONS	374

INTRODUCTION

The concept of a link between coronary atherosclerosis and dietary intake of saturated fat and cholesterol is over thirty years old. It has been bolstered through the decades by international and cross-cultural comparisons (183), analyses of the diets and disease profiles of migrant populations (167), in-depth studies from metabolic wards (72), and a variety of randomized clinical trials. Yet, despite billions of dollars spent on targeted and population-wide strategies aimed at reducing human consumption of saturated fat and cholesterol, aspects of the diet-heart connection continue to be a source of debate (147, 151, 170). At least part of the continuing uncertainty arises not from ignorance but from growing appreciation that the relationship between serum cholesterol and plaque formation and growth is more complex than was previously thought (92, 109, 176). But while we wait for studies in cellular physiology and molecular biology to clarify how different dietary patterns affect different individuals' atherosclerotic risk, what is to be done? Decision-making under uncertainty is, of course, the cornerstone of policy formulation. Thus, our focus here is on clinical policies and population strategies with respect to diet, dyslipidemias, and coronary heart disease (CHD).

CLINICAL AND POPULATION STRATEGIES: COMPLEMENTARY PREVENTIVE PARADIGMS

Clinical strategies aim to identify and treat persons who may be at increased short-term risk of coronary events. In contrast, population strategies seek to influence general dietary habits, thereby simultaneously lowering individual and population-wide mean levels of atherogenic serum lipids. Whereas clinical strategies are usually initiated at the doctor-patient interface, population strategies typically involve one or more of three elements. "Social marketing" efforts involve the mass dissemination of dietary advice through broadcast or print media, or through school, workplace, or point-of-purchase programs. "Behavioral interventions" aim to promote the uptake and long-term maintenance of dietary recommendations. "Environmental interventions" include food advertising and labeling legislation, changes in agricultural policy, taxes on fatty foods, and subsidized production or purchase of low-fat foods.

Although clinical strategies seek to identify persons who have a reasonable probability of benefiting from treatment, the greatest proportion of incident

CHD occurs in persons who are at relatively low levels of absolute risk if assessed solely in terms of serum total cholesterol (TC). Use of other lipid markers may improve the efficiency of any clinical strategy insofar as detection of persons at high risk is concerned. But the fact remains that CHD is multifactorial in etiology. Alone, hypercholesterolemia accounts for roughly half of the excess CHD risk in a middle-aged man with a serum TC level of 6.2 mmol/liter (38, 163). Although the TC/high-density lipoprotein-cholesterol (HDL-C) ratio is a better predictor of risk of symptomatic CHD than either TC or low-density lipoprotein (LDL)-C levels alone (66, 91, 166), the relationship between various serum lipid markers and coronary risk is continuous and graded. Many persons will develop coronary disease who have minimally to moderately elevated risk if assessed solely with even the most sophisticated lipid markers. In this sense, clinical and population dietary strategies are complementary: Clinical programs identify those who may not be influenced by mass dietary advice but who need to attend to it most (many of whom will go on to drug therapy); population programs affect those with lower TC values who also are at risk of CHD, but they avoid the treatment burdens and costs of mass medicalization. In the following section, we review some of the clinical and community-wide policies that have been developed and disseminated with respect to diet, cholesterol and other lipid fractions, and CHD.

Impact on Surrogate and Clinical Endpoints

Surrogate or proxy outcomes are defined as measures that are related to, or that are a substitute for, more clinically relevant outcomes. For obvious reasons, biochemical surrogates have figured prominently in the "diet-heart" literature, especially in comparisons between the benefits of similar interventions. Serum TC has been frequently used as the primary outcome measure in trials of alternative strategies for providing dietary advice, and excellent overviews of the efficacy of cholesterol-lowering diets in terms of serum TC are available (40). However, a wide variety of dietary interventions have been shown to adversely affect HDL while lowering TC, underscoring the need for care in selecting surrogates. Even the most sophisticated biochemical surrogates, moreover, do not illuminate the absolute risks and benefits of cholesterol lowering, particularly given the multifactorial nature of CHD. For example, surrogate measures are rightly criticized for overstating potential benefits, yet the opposite has also occurred with angiographic surrogate endpoints in secondary prevention trials of lipid-altering strategies. Intriguingly, angiographic changes do not explain the large early reductions in coronary events observed in some trials (13), presumably because lipid lowering not only affects the atherosclerotic process, it also stabilizes plaques and alters platelet and endothelial function. These observations all argue for focusing on the outcomes of

greatest interest to patients and policymakers—coronary and noncoronary clinical endpoints, and their effects on quality and quantity of life.

Evidence Pertinent to Clinical Strategies

What experimental evidence should be available before adopting a clinical policy for the detection and management of dyslipidemias? Ideally, the evidence should have three elements: (a) It should be derived at the primary care level, for that is where the policy will be implemented; (b) it should prove that the program has an all-cause mortality impact with acceptable side-effects and morbidity benefits such that overall quality-adjusted life years are increased; and (c) to the extent that one is prepared to use economic factors in policy formulation, it should show that the program's incremental cost per life-year gained is comparable to other funded programs and interventions. Unfortunately, no trials have been performed in primary care settings to provide definitive evidence on these counts. This point is crucial because innumerable points of slippage occur that render the generalizability of the design of existing clinical trials questionable at best, independent of concerns about who was enrolled.

Most of the extant single-factor trials have started at the referral-center spout, not at the primary care funnel. They were sited in academic hospitals and clinics, took excellent laboratory facilities for granted, and also assumed that numerous nurses and dieticians would be available to enforce compliance. They used selected populations of volunteers with high lipid levels, usually middle-aged males, and took no account of persons at lower risk, e.g. premenopausal women and younger men, who would be tested and treated in aggressive programs, and for whom the risk-benefit ratio may be less favorable. Information about some key outcomes is also absent from existing trials. Some overall quality-of-life measures are absolutely necessary to capture, on the positive side, morbidity reductions from reduced CHD events and, on the negative side, the impact of other diseases, whether as inevitable background morbidity limiting the quality-of-life impact of CHD reductions or somehow induced by treatment. Other negative quality-of-life outcomes to be captured are the inconvenience and cost of continuing medical care, drug side-effects (if applicable), psychological labeling effects, and some measure of the disutility or positive health perceptions associated with adopting a different diet,

Of note, experience managing hypertension in asymptomatic adults suggests that detection and labeling are associated with a range of adverse psychosocial consequences, including poorer perceived health status (116, 184), greater physical symptoms and disability (116, 184), decreased time spent socializing (116), and increased illness-related absenteeism from work (27, 70, 140). Comparable effects in hypercholesterolemic adults have not been observed

(69, 85), but more research is needed. Similarly, preliminary results suggesting that health-related quality of life is unaffected by a cholesterol-lowering diet (73) need to be confirmed in light of other studies, which report loss of enjoyment of food as a primary contributor to dietary noncompliance (32, 103).

A model trial would accordingly set out two case-finding programs: one aggressive, and another more conservative. The organizers would recruit individual family physicians, or group practices, allocating the practitioners or practices randomly to one level of intervention or another. The function of trials nurses and other players would be to review the protocols with the participating primary care doctors and their office staff, not to enforce protocol compliance on the part of the patients, as such enforced compliance would exaggerate the impact of treatment. Biochemical follow-up would rely on the usual laboratories of the region. Resources for dietary therapy might be bolstered somewhat, simply to avoid unfair restraint on the potential success of the trial. But the army of trained dieticians that figure in some trials would not be in the field. There would be guidelines for family physicians to refer the patient on for endocrinologic opinions. Whether or not the referral occurred would be up to the family doctor-again, as occurs in real life-and, once a patient was referred, the specialist physician or endocrinologist would be free to follow his or her own preferred protocol. This clinical freedom would be a positive feature of such a trial, because conventional trials may underestimate effectiveness of interventions by demanding adherence to standardized drug or diet regimens even when responses are suboptimal. Patients would need to be followed for about 10 years. For simplicity, outcomes might include only three basic measures: date of death; cause of death; and regular measurements of health status (and/or quality of life) using a battery of indices. Finally, costs would be tracked using a randomly drawn subsample of patients and would include elements from the perspective of both a third-party payor and society at large (i.e. time expended by practitioners and nurses, hospitalization costs, out-of-pocket costs incurred by the patient for visits and medication, time off work, and so on).

To date, few published trials come even close to this model. Controlled trials of cholesterol screening and management in general practice have not been done, and randomized control trials (RCTs) of multifactorial screening and follow-up are rare. At least two long-term screening trials have been conducted, but these have had equivocal results. The South-East London Screening Study (162), an RCT of multifactorial screening involving 7229 men and women from two general practice groups, showed no significant changes in morbidity or mortality during a nine-year follow-up of those screened compared with those receiving conventional care. An earlier American trial of multiphasic screening also showed no demonstrable effect on CHD-related mortality after a follow-up of seven years (35). However, neither study employed a systematic

strategy for follow-up and intervention. The more recent OXCHECK Trial (81) randomly allocated 2205 men and women aged 35-64 to receive either a multifactorial CHD health check with risk factor-specific follow-up as appropriate and annual rechecks, or conventional care. Consistent with recent clinical guidelines, personal and family history of CHD, smoking status, habitual diet, blood pressure, body mass index (BMI), and TC values were assessed in all those screened. Step I dietary advice was given to all persons with a BMI >30 kg/m² and/or a high saturated fat or low polyunsaturated fat diet. Individualized dietary counseling and follow-up was provided for persons with a fasting TC > 6.5 mmol/liter; about 12% of intervention subjects received such counseling. After one year, mean TC was 2.3% lower in the intervention group than in the control group; this gap widened to 3.1% at year 3. A second British trial comparable in design and size, but using a more family-centered screening and treatment strategy, achieved a 4% reduction in TC over the course of one year (48), at the end of which a similar number of control and intervention patients had been given lipid-lowering drugs. These two recent studies differ from previous large multifactorial trials, such as the American Multiple Risk Factor Intervention Trial (123), the Oslo Study (74), or the Goteborg Trial (186), in that they were clinically based, included both men and women, and used no more resources than were available to general practices at the time of the trials. Thus, these results are likely to be more generalizable to clinical practice than are the results of past trials. According to Law et al (97), sustaining TC reductions of the magnitude observed in these trials for five years would reduce mortality from CHD by about 10% in persons aged 55-64 years. However, mortality projections based on risk factor changes are known to be unreliable for a single factor let alone more than one, many of the above-noted relevant outcomes are missing, and questions about the efficiency of the strategies relative to population-wide efforts remain. In the absence of ideal evidence at the programmatic primary care level, what can be said about the efficacy and safety of the cholesterol-lowering interventions they incorporate?

Almost 50 trials of cholesterol-lowering interventions aimed at reducing CHD have been reported since the mid-1960s. These trials vary considerably in terms of type of intervention (diet, drug, surgery), population (primary versus secondary prevention), degree of cholesterol lowering, duration of treatment, size, and whether or not other risk-factor interventions also were involved. Despite this heterogeneity, a relatively consistent reduction in CHD events among the clinical trials has been found.

In particular, recent trial evidence leaves little doubt about the benefit of cholesterol lowering in persons with preexisting CHD. In the Scandinavian Simvastatin Survival Study, for example, a 25% reduction in TC over 5.4 years in patients who had prior myocardial infarctions (MI) and initial TC values

between 5.5 and 8.0 mmol/liter resulted in 30% fewer deaths, 42% fewer coronary deaths, and no change in non-CHD mortality (155). Coupled with the results of the Program on the Surgical Control of the Hyperlipidemias (18), in which comparably large 12-year reductions in TC were achieved also without increases in non-CHD mortality, these findings go some way toward resolving concerns about the risk-benefit ratio of intervention in persons with established disease.

Unfortunately, because none of the primary prevention trials have been large or long enough to test conclusively for an effect on total mortality, the question of all-cause mortality and overall morbidity benefit of cholesterol lowering remains unanswered for the vast majority of persons asked to consider the Step I diet. Only very recently has a single, unifactorial, primary prevention trail had sufficient numbers of subjects and a large enough therapeutic effect to show an unequivocal effect of drug treatment on the risk of death from CHD (159a). Although a favorable trend to reduction in all-cause mortality was also demonstrated, this trial did not address dietary measures, and its mortality results should be integrated with earlier drug trials. Many quantitative syntheses of evidence from multiple sources, or meta-analyses, have already been undertaken to overcome the limited statistical power of the separate individual trials. At least ten such overviews reported in the last five years have included primary prevention trials, which are our major interest here (34, 36, 37, 62, 75, 96, 97, 107, 121, 146, 178). The principal conclusions of these overviews are summarized in Table 1; some favor primary prevention, some are more pessimistic. As Silberberg (160) points out, the divergence of opinion among overviews comes partly from commitments to different models of disease and, thus, can be attributed to nonuniform inclusion criteria and distinct approaches to the weighting of trials. With the exception of Muldoon et al (121), who focused exclusively on primary prevention trials, and Truswell (178), who reported only on dietary interventions, all of the analyses included both primary and secondary prevention trials of cholesterol-lowering drugs and diets, and some included multiple risk factor interventions (62, 75, 178).

The latest overview, by Gould et al (62), included the largest number of trials greater than two years in length and modeled outcomes in terms of the degree of cholesterol lowering achieved. It alone has shown a consistent association between cholesterol reduction and total mortality in all trials, including all unifactorial trials, and in unifactorial secondary prevention trials (62). As in earlier meta-analyses, however, the relative risk reduction for total mortality was only about 8% and was statistically nonsignificant. Ongoing concerns about adverse effects of cholesterol lowering have been sustained by a wide variety of animal experiments and human cohort studies (60, 86, 87, 120); however, in contrast to previous observational and trial reports, Gould et al (62) found no relation between non-CHD mortality and cholesterol re-

Author (Reference)	Summary	
Holme (75)	Focused on relation between TC reduction and total mortality and CHD incidence using weighted linear regression; 2.5% reduction in CHD incidence indicated for every 1 reduction in TC; estimated that TC reduction would have to be at least 8-9% over minimum of 2 years to reduce total mortality; claimed distinction between primary and secondary prevention trials was "artificial"	
Muldoon et al (121)	Focused on excess deaths from injury in treated patients; raised questions about neurochemical effects of cholesterol lowering	
Davey Smith & Pekkanen (36)	Focused on the risk of cancer among those treated with drug vs. dietary therapy; suggested a moratorium on drug use pending the outcome of large primary prevention trials	
Ravnskov (146)	Cited evidence counter to the diet-heart idea; emphasized the preferential citation of supportive trials in analyses	
MacMahon (107)	Estimated size of "plausible beneficial effect" of several years of cholesterol lowering of total deaths to be about 5-6%, assuming no true effect on non-CHD mortality	
Davey Smith et al (37)	Ranked trials according to absolute risk of CHD in control groups; defined a threshold o 3% per year below which net harm from cholesterol lowering is likely; expressed concern that results of trials involving high-risk subjects may not be generalizable to lower-risk individuals	
Cucherat & Boissel (34)	Included 11 drug and 7 dietary trials, and 1 surgical trial. Performed analysis with logOR ^a method and level of significance at 0.01. Confirmed significant reductions in nonfatal MI and fatal CHD, and no effect on total mortality. Increases in deaths due cancer and causes other than illness were nonsignificant	
Law et al (96, 97)	Examined the degree and duration of cholesterol lowering and suggested close agreement between observational and trial data; argued that trial group differences in TC need to be maintained for at least 2 years for a CHD benefit to be observed; predicted a 20-30% reduction in CHD endpoints for each 10% (0.6 mmol/liter) reduction in TC over 2-5 years	
Truswell (178)	Analyzed 17 dietary trials (some of which tested mechanisms other than cholesterol lowering); found fewer deaths in intervention subjects; result stronger in 5 trials achieving >10% reduction in TC for >3 years (pooled ORs: 0.89 vs. 0.94 in all trials combined); concluded, no indication of excess all-cause mortality in dietary trials	
Gould et al (62)	Used a likelihood-based method of trend analysis to assess intervention-specific effects by expressing the results of 35 trials as a function of the degree of TC lowering obtained; for every 10% reduction in TC, CHD and total mortality were reduced by 13 and 10%, respectively; TC lowering per se had no effect on non-CHD mortality; expressed concern about the use of fibrates that had specific adverse effects on non-CHD and total mortality independent of TC lowering	

a Logarithm odds ratio.

duction. This was also true in a separate analysis for unifactorial primary prevention trials. Coupled with the finding of a significant drug class-specific adverse effect for fibrates and the recent results of the West of Scotland Coronary Prevention Study (159a), which showed absolutely no adverse effects on risk of non-CHD death over a five-year follow-up period, these more recent results do not support the notion that TC lowering per se increases the risk of mortality from non-CHD causes, at least for the range of cholesterol values represented in the trials. In a comprehensive review of cohort studies and RCTs, including unpublished mortality data, Law et al (96) also found no evidence that low or lowering TC increases mortality from any cause other than hemorrhagic stroke. They concluded that even this risk was likely to be outweighed by benefits from a lowered risk of CHD. In the ten dietary trials of greater than three-years duration reviewed by Truswell (178) (seven of which were unifactorial and three were multifactorial), both major CHD events and all deaths were significantly reduced in those treated (pooled odds ratios are 0.86 and 0.94, respectively). However, this includes four trials in the setting of secondary prevention. Where do these latest analyses leave us?

It now appears that adverse effects of low or lowered cholesterol are small, if present at all, and are probably outweighed by the benefit of fewer coronary events. Unfortunately, it is unlikely that a unifactorial primary prevention trial with a potent dietary intervention will be mounted that is large and long enough to demonstrate an all-cause mortality benefit (29). In the absence of such data, a prudent strategy would be to restrict individualized dietary therapy and cholesterol-lowering drugs to persons either with established CHD or with multiple risk factors for CHD. What, then, are the current clinical guidelines?

Current Clinical Guidelines

Clinical guidelines for the prevention of CHD through serum lipid modification have been promulgated in Europe (172), Britain (12, 159), North America (21, 23, 45, 127), and elsewhere (31, 84, 110). In the past, these guidelines varied markedly among and within countries in several respects, including target populations for case finding, tests for initial screening and follow-up, threshold values leading to further testing and treatment, and the place of other risk factors in treatment decisions. However, with ongoing debate and accumulating evidence, more convergence of opinion has emerged. We focus below on the latest policy statements from five of the most influential panels (8, 24, 46, 82, 143).

The latest statements all move toward treating people with symptomatic cardiovascular disease (CVD) at milder levels of dyslipidemia and targeting them more vigorously with diet and drug therapy than asymptomatic people. Other areas of consensus among the policies are as follows: Two or more

fasting lipid profiles are needed to confirm the diagnosis; secondary causes of dyslipidemias should be excluded; dietary therapy is the first line of intervention; and at least six months of dietary therapy should be attempted before drugs are considered. In keeping with the emphasis on global CHD risk, all of the programs encourage exercise, weight reduction, and the elimination of excessive alcohol intake and smoking where applicable. All also define the ideal diet as providing no more than 30% of calories by fat, fewer than 10% of calories by saturated fat, and less than 300 mg of dietary cholesterol per day; this diet, originally defined by the American Heart Association (AHA) (67), is the Step I of the National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) (45). Although all the panels recommend an intensification of dietary intervention before proceeding with drugs, only America's NCEP specifies a second level of diet therapy; the Step II diet requires a further reduction in saturated fat and dietary cholesterol to 7% of calories and 200 mg/day, respectively.

Case-finding and treatment guidelines for asymptomatic adults from the five panels are summarized in Table 2. Divergence of opinion is most apparent where trial evidence is lacking, i.e. in the detection and treatment of hyperlipidemia among women, children, and the elderly. Because policy statements rarely define what is meant by dietary "advice," "counseling," and "therapy," determining the similarities and differences in the treatment guidelines is somewhat problematic. Universal first-line therapy for hypercholesterolemia the AHA/NCEP's Step I diet—is essentially similar to the eating pattern recommended by these groups for the general public. What then constitutes dietary therapy? According to the NCEP, therapy is defined by the setting in which the message is delivered (in this case medical), and the intensity and individualization of its delivery (45). Thus, the latest NCEP guidelines differentiate between "educating" patients about the ideal diet for all, "informing" them about the Step I diet, and initiating Step I "dietary therapy" (46). For the purpose of this review, we take "education" to represent brief reinforcement of general dietary guidelines—a zone where clinical policy serves to reinforce a population-wide policy of dietary and lifestyle education. "Advice" is defined as somewhat more intensive, generally prompted by a blood lipid measure or presence of other risk factors, and as consisting in the provision of generic information about major sources of dietary saturated fatty acids and cholesterol and in guidance as to how one might use dietary means to lower blood cholesterol (see Table 7 in Reference 45). This is distinct from "therapy" or "counseling," which entails a detailed and individualized review of a patient's dietary habits with a corresponding therapeutic plan and ongoing follow-up (45).

For reasons of cost and convenience, all the programs recommend using a random, nonfasting TC as the initial screening test. To increase predictive

accuracy, the NCEP has added an assessment of HDL-C. Numerous observational studies have identified the TC/HDL-C ratio as the optimal lipid predictor of clinical outcome (3, 26, 66). The ratio also appears to be a better discriminator than TC alone of those who will respond favorably to a cholesterol-lowering diet. In the Leiden Intervention Trial, for instance, TC/HDL-C was significantly more sensitive than TC alone in distinguishing between subjects who had coronary lesions that grew during two years of vegetarianism and those who had lesions that either remained unchanged or regressed (2). However, using detailed diet composition data and serum lipid values for 155 subjects, Hegsted et al (72) were able to explain only 40% of the variation in subjects' HDL-C values. Thus, the relationship between diet and HDL-C remains modest for most patients.

By far the most important change in the recent policies is the increased emphasis on CHD risk status as a guide to screening, in some cases, and, in all cases, to the type and intensity of cholesterol-lowering therapy prescribed. Although the mechanics and timing of risk assessment differ somewhat across the groups (e.g. the European Task Force advocates the use of a Framinghambased coronary risk chart versus simple risk factor counts), the principle remains the same. Implicit in this shift to risk-sensitive policies is a delay in the use of drug therapy in most young adult men and premenopausal women with high LDL-C levels who are otherwise at low short-term risk of CHD. Some authors, including the Canadian Task Force (CTF), have argued vigorously in favor of excluding these population subgroups at the screening rather than at the treatment stage on the grounds that screening makes sense only if the results affect decisions about therapy (24, 78, 127). Certainly, it seems inefficient from a societal standpoint to screen and treat low-risk persons, and to expose them to the costs and inconvenience of therapies when there is an extremely low probability of short-term benefit.

Few now argue that the move toward delaying treatment in low-risk individuals is unwise. However, since the risk of CHD rises dramatically with age, one consequence of the risk-sensitive guidelines is the increased propensity to treat elderly persons who are otherwise in good health. The conundrum here is obvious: The attributable risk of dyslipidemias in elderly persons is potentially very high, but little trial evidence has accrued to support treatment of elderly asymptomatic individuals. Trials of lipid-lowering in the elderly, currently being undertaken in the United States, should help to clarify the role of therapy in this growing subgroup.

As pointed out by both the NCEP and the British Heart Association (BHA), the use of estrogen replacement therapy (HRT) by postmenopausal women may obviate the need for cholesterol-lowering drugs. Use of oral estrogen has a favorable effect on the serum lipid profile by reversing an age-related increase in LDL-C and increasing HDL-C by 10–15% (111). In a meta-analysis com-

Table 2 Case-finding and treatment guidelines for asymptomatic persons from five expert panels

Panel (Reference)	Panel (Reference) Persons entered into program	Initial cholesterol test	Minimum lipid level in mmol/liter (mg/dl)-CHD risk thresholds for dietary advice, dietary therapy	Minimum threshold for drugs
Task Force of the ESC, EAS, and ESH (143)	Aged ≥30 yr, with the following priority given 1. With multiple CHD risk factors 2. With first-order relatives with premature CHD or other CVD 3. With asymptomatic first-order relatives at high risk of CHD	Random, nonfasting TC	• Advice: TC > 5.0 (200) • Therapy: TC > 7.0 (270) or TC > 5.0 (200) and absolute 10-yr risk > 20% if projected to age 60	TC > 7.0 (270) or lower if 10-yr risk > 20%
International Task Force for Prevention of CHD (82)	All aged ≥20 yr	Random, nonfasting TC Fasting full lipid profile for persons with diabetes or hypertension	•Single session of dietary counseling: TC 5.2-6.5 (200-250) or LDL-C 3.5-4.5 (135-175) unless patient has multiple risk factors, in which case, intensify after 3-6 mo	TC > 6.5 (250) or LDL-C > 4.5 (175) and ≥ 2 risk factors

Annu. Rev. Nutr. 1996.16:349-382. Downloaded from www.annualreviews.org by Central College on 01/04/12. For personal use only.

CHOLESTEROL POLICY

TC > 7.8 (300) or LDL-C > 6.0 (230) in persons with <2 risk factors	LDL-C ≥ 4.9 (190) for persons with <2 risk factors	TC > 6.85 (264) or LDL-C > 4.5 (173)
•Advice: TC 5.2-6.5 (200-250) •Therapy: TC > 6.5 (250), except for those with HDL-C > 2.0 (77)	•Education on general population eating pattern: all tested •Advice: TC 5.2-6.2 (200-239) and HDL-C ≥ 0.9 (35) and <2 risk factors; full lipid profile for those with HDL-C < 0.9 (35) or ≥2 risk factors •Therapy: LDL-C ≥ 3.4 (130) and ≥2 risk factors or LDL-C ≥ 4.1 (160)	• Advice: men aged 30–69 yr •Therapy: TC ≥ 6.2 (239) or LDL-C ≥ 4.15 (160)
Random, nonfasting TC	Random, nonfasting TC and HDL-C	Random, nonfasting TC
With multiple CHD risk factors, a strong family history of CHD, or clinical stigmata or a family history of hyperlipidemia	All aged ≥20 yr	Men aged 30–59 yr, regardless of risk factor status Consider others with multiple CHD risk factors, or a strong family history of hyper- cholesterolemia or premature CHD
ВНА (8)	NCEP's Adult Treatment Panel II (46)	CTF (24)

paring estrogen users with nonusers, use was associated with a relative CHD risk reduction of 44% (165). However, the biological actions of estrogen are complex, and the risk-benefit ratio of HRT has not been assessed by an RCT. These uncertainties mean that even with the widespread adoption of risk-sensitive guidelines, controversy about lipid screening and treatment in various adult subgroups will continue until more trials are complete (68, 77, 89, 93, 94, 164).

Recommendations regarding children and adolescents appear in two of the policy statements and, in the case of the NCEP, in a separate report (125) endorsed by the American Academy of Pediatrics Committee on Nutrition (1). The BHA advocates screening only children from families carrying the gene for familial hypercholesterolemia any time over the age of 5, the generally accepted age at which a Step I diet can be prescribed (8). The NCEP's Childrens' Panel (125) and the European Atherosclerosis Society (EAS) (82) arrived at comparable policies, both more inclusive than that of the BHA, For example, the EAS recommends screening all children over the age of 3 who have a strong family history (parent, first-degree aunt or uncle, or grandparent) of premature (aged < 60 years) CVD or a parent who has either familial hypercholesterolemia or a serum TC > 7.8 mmol/liter (300 mg/dl). A finding of TC > 5.2 mmol/liter (200 mg/dl) or LDL-C > 3.4 mmol/liter (130 mg/dl) would justify further evaluation (82). As part of their population strategies for blood cholesterol reduction, both the EAS and the NCEP recommend that all persons over the age of 2 follow a Step I diet. The guidelines for children emphasize the need to ensure that sufficient calories are provided to maintain normal growth and development, although critics have suggested that malnutrition could occasionally result (76).

Cholesterol screening policies for children have stimulated considerable debate (42, 43, 53, 95, 131, 149). Given that the adult guidelines have been revised to account for the fact that, on their own, blood lipid measures are at best modest predictors of future coronary events, the case for cholesterol screening in children is weak. It appears more sensible at present to facilitate family-wide adoption of healthful diets by discouraging detrimental eating behaviors and promoting prudent ones, beginning at an early age, through public education.

In sum, some progress has now been made toward setting clinical policies for cholesterol screening and treatment that respect evidence from both epidemiologic research and clinical trials. Not only is the increased emphasis on CHD risk as the basis for decision-making more in line with the ultimate objective of the clinical strategies as a group (i.e. to identify individuals at high risk who are likely to benefit from more intensive intervention), it has led to guidelines that are more internally consistent (64) and perhaps easier to follow than in the past. Nevertheless, some policies remain open to challenge

and debate, including the screening of young adults and children, and aggressive treatment of elderly individuals. Panels such as the CTF (24) remain wary about the extent to which the results of existing primary prevention trials have been generalized to lower-risk groups, particularly women. In our view, these deficiencies in the trial evidence strengthen the case for a targeted approach to clinical intervention and for careful community-wide promotion of dietary change.

Population Strategies: The Problem of Definition and Evaluation

Evaluating population strategies for cholesterol lowering is an exceedingly complex undertaking. As noted above, population strategies include mass dissemination of educational materials; however, media coverage will occur entirely independent of any community initiative when major agencies make policy pronouncements on dietary issues, or when studies on the relationship between diet and disease are published. The effects of behavioral interventions incorporated into a community-wide program may be difficult to separate from the effects of widespread blood screening and intervention in the clinical setting. Indeed, some community or work-site programs have incorporated blood testing for dyslipidemias, as well as individualized dietary advice that is more intense than most physicians will provide. The impact of the foregoing elements is intimately entangled with legislation about food advertizing and labeling, with changes in retail strategies, and with both market-driven and government-abetted shifts in agricultural policy. In short, one cannot easily tease apart the separate impact of specific community-based CHD programs and what might be termed the cholesterol movement with its plethora of public pronouncements from authorities of all stripes, its media coverage, and its clinical detection strategies.

General Population Policies and Trends

The modern "cholesterol movement" began gaining momentum in the 1960s. Based on broad epidemiologic evidence for the diet-heart hypothesis, American recommendations for dietary change and public policies to reduce CHD risk factors appeared as early as 1970 with the publication of the report of the Inter-Society Commission for Heart Disease Resources (83). Similar to recent advice, this report called for significant reductions in the overall consumption of fat (<35% of calories), saturated fat (<10%), and cholesterol (<300 mg/day). In 1977, the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) assumed responsibility for a wide range of nutrition research and educational activities, including advice to the public. The first federal dietary guidelines for disease prevention, entitled "Dietary Goals for the United States," were released later

that year (181). Although its recommendations largely echoed those of earlier reports, the document was symbolically important. Official "Canadian" advice on the role of diet in CHD was released about the same time with the integration of "Nutrition Recommendations for Canadians" and "Canada's Food Guide" (124).

Evidence that consumers were listening came shortly thereafter, as sales of whole milk, eggs, and beef began to decline in both countries (142, 168, 169). As a result of public pressure, the 1970s and early 1980s also saw dramatic reductions in beef- and pork-carcass fat content (11). Not surprisingly, more visible relationships between food lobbies, the USDA, and the US Congress also began to form (130). Food-label reform initiatives began a decade later with the release of the 1988 Surgeon General's Report on Nutrition and Health (173). Given the North American Free Trade Agreement, it has been suggested that such initiatives may lead to international harmonization of standards, regulatory requirements, and policy in areas such as food labeling, nutrition claims, and dietary guidance (157). In the same vein, these issues are already being considered by the European Economic Community (177).

The dietary trends emerging during the 1970s and 1980s have been reinforced by health promotion coverage in the popular press, and by an upsurge of activity from voluntary health organizations such as the AHA and the Heart and Stroke Foundation of Canada, as well as by the advent of well-funded federal programs, such as the US NCEP and the Federal-Provincial Canadian Heart Health Initiative. Multiple expert panels have been convened to address the question of optimal eating patterns for the general public; as noted earlier, all have endorsed the Step I diet or its equivalent (47, 82, 135).

Evidence for the broad impact of the cholesterol movement is indeed compelling. According to national and regional surveys, the 1980s saw vast changes in cholesterol-related knowledge and behavior among US adults, particularly since the NCEP's institution in 1985 (55, 57, 132, 156). Independent cross-sectional surveys of roughly 4000 adults living in the control cities of the Stanford Five-City Project reveal a significant rise in levels of awareness of the risks and sources of dietary cholesterol (55). In similarly sized national samples, 35% of adults reported having had their cholesterol level checked in 1983 versus 65% in 1990. The proportion of respondents on physician-prescribed cholesterol-lowering diets tripled during that time, from 3 to 9%. This was temporally associated with a fall in the median range of serum cholesterol at which physicians reportedly initiated dietary therapy: 6.72-7.21 mmol/liter (260-279 mg/dl) in 1983 to 5.17-5.66 mmol/liter (200-219 mg/dl) in 1990 (156).

Since the 1960s, mean fat consumption in the United States has fallen from 40–42% of calories to less than 37%, largely because of a reduction in the consumption of saturated fat (179, 180). Coupled with a simultaneous increase

in the consumption of polyunsaturated fatty acids (from 4 to 7% of calories) and a fall in dietary cholesterol intake (from about 700 to less than 360 mg/day in men and to 260 mg/day in women), these changes have contributed to a 6% 10-year drop in the prevalence of high blood cholesterol [>6.21 mmol/liter (240 mg/dl)] among US adults—a proportion that currently rests at about 20% (158). With these trends, and with the concomitant maelstrom of activity on the cholesterol issue, we should not be surprised that it is difficult to conclusively demonstrate the incremental effects of any community-specific intervention program let alone the component strategies within them.

Evidence for the Effectiveness of Specific Population Strategies

A large-scale controlled trial of general dietary advice was considered infeasible early on, given the results of the Diet Heart Feasibility Trial (126). Perhaps reflecting this feasibility issue, none of the unifactorial community-based programs focusing solely on cholesterol reduction have had a concurrent control group (145, 148, 161). However, three unifactorial work-site programs have had concurrent controls.

Bruno et al (16) studied the effects of eight weekly group counseling sessions with six months of periodic follow-up, and both Crouch et al (33) and Barratt et al (7) compared five sessions of individual counseling over several months with similar instruction in writing. Although all of the studies included face-to-face nutrition counseling, the courses differed in length and intensity. The most intense program produced a 6.4% reduction in TC relative to controls after three months (16). However, as seen in trials of more intensive diets (79), Bruno et al observed a parallel fall in HDL-C in treated subjects and, thus, no change in subjects' TC/HDL-C ratio. The TC reductions were 6.2 and 4.6%, respectively, after face-to-face and mail/telephone advice in a less intensive one-year study (33). There were no changes in mean TC six months after the five-week program studied by Barratt et al (7). The relative success of the earlier two studies was probably due to much higher rates of participation; both were better than 80%. Work-site programs will provide more realistic estimates of the effects of dietary education than, say, programs voluntarily attended by general citizens with a special interest in diet and CHD. Conversely, because they have a captive audience and high participation rates, work-site programs in general will tend to overestimate effectiveness relative to the average impact of community-wide education programs. Certainly, all three of these programs involved more intensive and individualized education than would be the norm in any affordable and sustainable community campaign.

Apart from these unifactorial studies, most of the evidence concerning our ability to promote community-wide dietary change has largely arisen in the context of community- and worksite-based intervention studies that aimed at

multifactorial CHD risk reduction. It is generally believed that, for such community-wide programs to be successful, complementary messages about the benefits of healthy eating should be available in the schools, in the workplace, at the point of food purchase, and through mass media. Each of these routes has particular strengths and weaknesses, as documented in several reviews (58, 59, 100, 187). Mass media campaigns, for example, raise awareness but rarely facilitate change in health behaviors unless they are accompanied by social support (54). Effective community-based programs have tended to capitalize on the strengths and complementarity of these modes of dissemination by including them all.

Of the multimodal community-based projects, the best-known are those implemented in North Karelia, Finland (141); California (49-51); Minnesota (118); and Pawtucket, Rhode Island (44). These first-generation "heart-health" demonstration projects, three of which were funded by the US National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute, relied heavily on social learning theory (5). This theory holds that new behaviors result from exposure to significant role models and are sustained only by reinforcement at both the individual and the societal level. Accordingly, these fiveto ten-year studies have included a broad range of educational and social strategies to achieve, among other risk factor modifications, widespread reductions in saturated fat intake and relative increases in the consumption of polyunsaturated fat and vegetables. Health education, systematic personal and group counseling, training of local personnel, and promotion of environmental changes to support new dietary habits have been among the interventions used. With the exception of the Pawtucket Project, nutrition information has been disseminated via local newspapers and radio, leaflets, posters and stickers, public meetings, and school and worksite campaigns. Broadcast media were not used in Pawtucket in order to test the effect of community activation or more grass roots approaches to education. In Minnesota, high levels of cooperation from community food retailers also meant that researchers had more direct access to the food supply itself (122).

Evaluation of these projects, as noted above, is complex. Recent attempts to minimize the contamination of reference populations have been met with only limited success (134). Similarly, problems arise when one tries to relate changes in a specific risk factor to CHD incidence without proper control for changes in other risk factors. With the possible exception of the North Karelia Project, follow-up times also have been too short for interregional differences in CHD event rates to emerge, let alone other disease outcomes likely to be responsive to multifactorial interventions, such as lung cancer or stroke. Other statistical hurdles facing community-based programs include too-few analysis units and sampling difficulties (117).

At present, hard outcome evidence in favor of the community-based CHD programs is available only for the North Karelia project. In 1983, Salonen et al reported a greater decline in coronary death rates between 1969–1979 in North Karelia compared with both its reference county and the country as a whole (154). Whether or not these trends have continued is not known. Subsequent reports have included only aggregate data of national trends in CHD incidence and mortality (153). Since none of the other community-based programs have progressed to a stage where similar outcomes can be reported, confirmation of these findings may not be available for several years.

As a proxy measure, information about risk factor changes is available for virtually all first-generation programs, including the three National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute demonstration projects. Between 1972 and 1992, serum TC in men fell by 16% in North Karelians versus 12% in the reference population (182). During the first five years (the period of highest intervention intensity), the reduction was significantly greater in North Karelia, but since that time the trend has been similar in both regions. The early greater TC reduction in North Karelia was associated with a more marked reduction in the use of butter and a wider adoption of low-fat milk. This translated to a statistically significant net reduction in the consumption of saturated fat among North Karelians (139).

Cohort and cross-sectional surveys showed that intervention communities also experienced positive effects relative to controls in the Stanford Five-City Project: less weight gain (0.57 versus 1.25 kg); a 4% net reduction in both systolic and diastolic blood pressure; a 2% net reduction in plasma cholesterol;; a 13% net reduction in smoking rate; and a 15 and 16% net reduction in composite total mortality and CHD risk scores, respectively (49, 175). At time of peak intervention in Pawtucket, cross-sectional surveys showed significant changes in mean BMI and CVD risk projections in favor of treatment (25). However, only a decline in smoking prevalence among women and an increased prevalence of reported regular physical activity reached statistical significance in cross-sectional surveys in the Minnesota Heart Health Program (105). Neither of these latter, well-funded, comprehensive programs was effective in reducing mean blood cholesterol levels. Authors for both studies identified secular trends in reference communities as the major stumbling block (25, 105). As pointed out by Goodman et al (61), results like these superbly illustrate the challenge of separating relative effects of community-based, regional, and national health promotion initiatives and imply that programs aimed at modifying one, or at the most two, risk factors with well-focused multilevel interventions may be more cost effective than attempts to achieve community-wide multi-risk factor change.

Should the Boundaries Be Blurred Between Clinical and Population Strategies?

The foregoing discussion illustrated that boundaries cannot always be readily drawn between clinical and population strategies with respect to their characteristics and impact. Indeed, some of the above-mentioned community-based programs included a blood screening component. The Pawtucket Heart Health Program, for example, conducted a two-month cholesterol education campaign during which a series of Screening, COunseling, and REferral (SCORE) events were held throughout the community (98). Even when volunteers are involved, such campaigns are expensive and can generate an enormous number of clinical referrals. Moreover, blood test results from a community-wide initiative may needlessly alarm some individuals, or they may be falsely reassuring, keeping people from seeking appropriate clinical guidance.

To the extent that community-wide initiatives veer away from broad education on diet and life-style, their sustainability arguably is diminished. In this respect, a recurrent criticism of the first-generation projects was that they relied on researchers and experts from outside the study communities. More recent second-generation projects, such as the Nova Scotia Heart Health Program (106) and the Heartbeat Wales Programme (134), have capitalized on existing resources and networks within the participating communities to provide the primary structure for program delivery.

If, as we believe, a population-wide or community-oriented strategy should eschew crossover into the realm of clinical testing and detailed individual counseling, what of the converse proposition? Should primary care practitioners provide passing dietary education to all patients regardless of clinical risk-factor profiles or lipid measures? Most expert bodies have suggested that the family physician or internist does have a role in reinforcing the educational messages about diet that patients receive outside the clinical context. However, the likely impact of these initiatives is unclear. Baron et al (6) randomly selected men and women aged 25-60 years from a group general practice in England and enrolled 368 volunteers in a study of general practice-based nutritional advice. The intervention group received 30 min of instruction from a clinic nurse about optimal body weight and diet, individually or in small groups. They also received an instruction booklet. Brief follow-up sessions were scheduled for one and three months postrecruitment. Most subjects found the diet tolerable and feasible, and there was evidence of compliance based on dietary records. However, effects on TC and LDL-C were absent in women and trivial in men compared with control subjects, and both sexes showed a reduction in HDL-C.

CHALLENGES AND OPPORTUNITIES

Compliance with Recommended Low-Fat Diets

Using the NCEP's cut-points for treatment, Denke & Grundy (41) have estimated that, among moderate-risk men responsible for their own food choices, Step I dietary therapy could conceivably rescue one half from potential drug candidacy. They project that a further one quarter will be biologically resistant to diet manipulation, and the remaining 25% will very likely be noncompliant. Given the huge number of adults being screened and considered for treatment under programs like the NCEP, the problems of biological resistance and noncompliance with dietary advice are clearly important for patients, physicians, and the health care system.

After 35 years (90), the area of biological resistance is still poorly understood (41). The latest set of regression equations developed by Hegsted et al (72), based on aggregate data from metabolic studies and field trials, explains up to 84% of the variation in serum TC values. Nevertheless, there continues to be substantial variability around regression lines. Among other factors, the authors identify differences in the baseline serum lipid concentrations of subjects and their physiologic responsiveness to diets as being key contributors to the variation (72). The accuracy of earlier equations in predicting the responsiveness of individual patients to the Step I diet has been variable (39, 41). It is hoped that the latest equations will produce more generalizable estimates of short-term responsiveness, but long-term predictability is uncertain.

Although metabolic studies and even short-term trials in free-living adults suggest that the Step I diet will produce the average 10% TC reduction implicit in most clinical guidelines, longer term trials of free-living subjects under usual practice conditions indicate that reductions of no more than about 5% are sustainable (81). Frustration on the part of patients and clinicians over small TC reductions may lead some patients who are at relatively low short-term risk of CHD to adopt more intensive diets or even to take lipid-lowering drugs, with questionable marginal benefit (144). As to more intensive regimens, such as the NCEP's Step II diet, there has been only one controlled trial involving free-living patients who chose their own meals. In it, mean TC levels fell significantly by about 5%, but, as noted above, so did HDL-C (79), leading to no change in lipid-related coronary risk. A more rigorous diet, such as the one used in the Oslo Study (<30% of energy by fat), has been shown to reduce TC by greater than 10%, to increase HDL, and (in combination with smoking cessation) to produce an impressive reduction in coronary events in men with TC levels >7.5 mmol/liter (74). However, even if comparable trial evidence were available for lower-risk subjects (which it is not), considerably higher

effort-yield ratios would be expected for these people, and from a patient's perspective, these more intensive diets may not be worthwhile.

Most frequently, patients report cost (19, 112, 119) and lack of taste and availability of healthful foods (28, 32, 103) as the key reasons for not adhering to reduced-fat diets. Other factors known to affect adherence include difficulties in changing eating habits, lack of motivation, and lack of family support (32, 103). In a recent British survey of the concordance between perceived and actual barriers to implementing a low-fat diet, Lloyd et al (103) found that loss of enjoyment was the most difficult barrier for subjects to overcome. Lack of family support was an unanticipated problem when it came to avoiding sweets. Contrary to subjects' expectations, only the cost of fresh fruits and vegetables was prohibitively high (103). Cost analyses by McAllister et al (112) confirm the fact that, although a direct substitution of healthier food items may be more costly, diets restructured according to recognized guidelines (such as the USDA's Food Pyramid or Canada's Food Guide) may in fact bring cost savings. However, these study results are likely to be limited in their generalizability, particularly to low-income groups for whom issues of access and cost are more meaningful. The prevalence of barriers to compliance such as healthy food's lack of taste also will be highly dependent on the characteristic diet of those surveyed, and on how easy it is for respondents to access palatable reduced-fat substitutes. The importance people place on "unhealthy" foods or eating behaviors will vary for social and cultural reasons as well. Without reinforcement, at least during the initial year of transition, not only are new eating behaviors difficult to adopt, they are generally not sustained (148, 171, 188). Although the Step I diet is easily achievable by some, others could well suffer adverse effects to their quality of life, at least in the short term (138).

In sum, the Step I diet is a reasonable guide to healthy eating and should remain both the dietary target for all adults and the initial strategy in individualized therapy. Yet, regardless of the method of delivery and for a variety of reasons (some physiologic), many people will not respond adequately to Step I. In the clinical setting, these individuals are potential candidates for more intensive diets and lipid-lowering drugs. Both options are of unproven benefit for all except those at high risk of CHD and have costs, inconveniences, and unknown risks and adverse effects that may be highly important to some people. These factors emphasize the value of informed decision making by patients.

Framing the Numbers: What Do Patients Think?

An issue of critical importance in preventive policy setting is finding appropriate ways of communicating information about risks and putative treatment effects to patients and the general public. This concern, moreover, extends to physicians, who may also make inappropriate assessments of risks and benefits. Three interrelated areas warrant consideration: (a) methods to improve the accuracy of physicians' and patients' estimates of CHD risk before and after intervention; (b) the time preferences of patients; and (c) approaches to presenting risk and benefit information that will minimize the format effects induced by certain expressions.

The first area is important because, without such assistance, doctors systematically overestimate CHD risk in their patients (65), and patients underestimate risk in themselves (4, 133). Both have potentially serious consequences. Optimistic bias (185) in high-risk patients may contribute to poor adherence to interventions shown to be beneficial. Conversely, physicians' misperceptions may lead to overly aggressive treatment in those less likely to benefit. The fact that many physicians also overestimate the benefits of cholesterol lowering (65), and that a large proportion of hypercholesterolemic patients would want a greater risk reduction from drug therapy than lipid-lowering agents are likely to provide (102), provides further evidence of the need for better information on which to base treatment decisions. The latest clinical guidelines, which tend to promote the use of CHD risk assessment tools, may lead to a more realistic view of risks and benefits on all sides.

Second, all preventive programs involve investments: Patients suffer the inconvenience, costs, and side-effects of treatment now and over many years with the hope of averting some unpleasant future event. Most of us have strong time preferences, i.e. we wish to reap benefits sooner, while deferring costs or harms. Thus, patients need to know their patterns of potential risks and benefits as a function of time.

Lastly, several studies have shown that both physicians (10, 17, 52, 128) and patients (80) respond more favorably to a preventive intervention when its associated benefits are described in terms of a relative risk reduction, as opposed to a corresponding absolute risk reduction. As Hux & Naylor point out, one approach to overcoming this problem is to require that published study summaries report efficacy data in multiple formats (80). Ensuring that patients also see multiple measures of benefit will be the responsibility of physicians.

In sum, the perceptions of physicians and patients, as well as patient preferences, play an important role in ensuring that the right people agree to cholesterol-lowering therapy in the clinical setting; more attention needs to be paid to this point in research, practice, and policy setting.

Implementing Cholesterol Policy: What Do We Know?

For many reasons, the simple dissemination of clinical guidelines has seldom done much to guide practice; some reasons relate to the guidelines themselves, and others relate to the recipients and the environments in which they work

(63, 104). Moreover, those responsible for implementing public policy face a different set of challenges. An awareness of these barriers, coupled with uncertain patient compliance, allows one to appreciate why the actual yield from many preventive programs is considerably less than enthusiasts would have us believe (14).

IMPLEMENTING CLINICAL STRATEGIES Although lack of awareness of the content of guidelines is one barrier to compliance, even a knowledgeable, well-motivated family physician might have trouble deciding which guidelines to follow, particularly if they practice in North America or England. Slightly divergent pronouncements have come from four separate groups in Canada alone (21–23, 127). Nor is there any assurance that the guidelines will be comprehensive and clear. For example, the CTF on the Periodic Health Examination grades its recommendations as to inclusion in the periodic health examination as follows: A = good evidence for inclusion; B = fair evidence for inclusion; C = poor evidence for inclusion, but recommendations may be made on other grounds; D = fair evidence for exclusion; and E = good evidence for exclusion. Given a C recommendation, what is the practitioner to do?

Further confusion is created in the minds of clinicians because some guidelines are not internally consistent. This can be clearly shown by measuring the recommendations of the first Adult Treatment Panel of the NCEP against eight-year cumulative risks of any CHD event from the Framingham Heart Study (114), for a variety of age, sex, and risk-factor subgroups (115). More generally, no practitioner can adequately estimate CHD risk in the context of multiple risk factors, especially given the changing event rates across sex and age brackets. Add to this the need to estimate the reduction in risk from modifying one or more risk factors, so that the most efficient (and least disruptive) risk management strategy can be devised for a given patient, and the problem is substantial. For guideline developers, the challenge comes in striking a balance between accuracy and ease of use. Although the more simplistic cholesterol guidelines are characterized by internal inconsistencies and probably lead to an overemphasis on serum lipids, the more complex guidelines are harder for practitioners to follow in a busy office. Important progress in this regard has been made in the latest set of policy statements by recommending the use of decision support tools such as the Framingham-based risk charts or software (143). These tools also provide some sense to the patient of the potential gains with various strategies and thereby abet the process of bringing the patient's perceptions and preferences into play.

Empirical evidence confirms variable adherence to clinical policies. A national survey of American adults conducted in the two-year period following the release of the NCEP's 1988 guidelines showed that fewer than one third of persons deemed to require treatment for high blood cholesterol were receiv-

ing it (57). Although physician surveys in the United States (156) and Canada (152, 174) paint a more optimistic picture of practice than chart audits do (99, 108, 150), both confirm that the general approach to cholesterol screening and treatment taken by most general practitioners in North America is considerably more conservative than that recommended by national consensus panels.

All things considered, this conservatism and focus on highest risk patients may represent a triumph of the prudence and common sense of primary care practitioners over the zeal of those involved in cholesterol policy setting. A gap in adherence to guidelines is also understandable purely from a practical standpoint. The proportion of patients who are to receive dietary therapy, with or without drug intervention, varies from one guideline to the next according to the lipid cut-points used, but scores of adults in any given family practice might be affected. In many jurisdictions, physicians lack the training and any reasonable financial incentives to become personally involved in ongoing dietary counseling. Each patient consigned to individualized follow-up is also a source of ongoing appointments and of a certain amount of laboratory testing. Lack of time is by far the most commonly cited reason for noncompliance with guidelines (9, 56, 71). Since many general practitioners already run busy practices, it is no surprise that trials of labor-intensive educational efforts to improve physician compliance with cholesterol guidelines (one including individualized feedback on practice) have resulted in only modest improvements in detection, treatment, and follow-up behaviors (15, 71).

IMPLEMENTING POPULATION STRATEGIES Those responsible for implementing population-wide cholesterol policy face different challenges. First, there is the continuing uncertainty about just what strategies should be included in any community program and what their specific value is. Second, public policy is always developed with some view to competing private interests. Representatives from the US meat and dairy industry, for example, have lobbied vigorously against cholesterol policymakers to weaken or discredit policies and pronouncements that may reduce demand for their products (130). Nestle details how the USDA and the US Congress have been pressured over the past twenty years to revise federal recommendations for meat consumption from "eat less" to "choose lean" to "have two or three servings," a shift contrary to the goal of reducing consumption of saturated fatty acids.

Third, there are both legislative and financial barriers to improving public compliance with cholesterol policy. For example, although consumers make their most important food choices at the point of purchase, government regulations in certain jurisdictions place heavy restrictions on the use of grocery store interventions, making it difficult to support consumers in their attempt to follow guidelines (30). From a public health standpoint, traditional compliance-improving strategies [which rely heavily on group education, alone or in

combination with tailored diets, goal setting, and self-monitoring techniques (113)] are too resource intensive to apply en masse. Recent trials suggest well-designed written material is a feasible alternative to individual or group instruction (88, 101, 129) and can be improved further by tailoring messages based on a simple screening questionnaire and computer software (20). More effort is warranted to reduce legislative barriers to promotion of prudent diets, and to develop more cost-effective ways of communicating nutrition information.

CONCLUSIONS

We started this review by highlighting that policy formulation invariably consists of the art of framing recommendations and taking action in the face of incomplete evidence. Fortunately, there are some areas of cholesterol policy where the evidence has become clearer, but much doubt remains. For example, the evidence strongly supports dietary and, where necessary, drug intervention to modify serum lipids in persons who have multiple risk factors or established CHD. In all other groups, individualized treatment for high cholesterol has uncertain value in prolonging or improving life. These facts have been implicitly recognized in the latest sets of clinical guidelines from various national bodies. However, the continued endorsement of screening children and younger women is hard to understand or defend, and there is ongoing uncertainty about the best testing and treatment strategies for the elderly or for younger men. Debate will continue for many years. Longer term, it may be that new molecular markers will enable a more precise definition of lipid-related atherosclerotic risks, as well as likely responses to different treatment modalities.

As to population-wide strategies to promote dietary change, a few critics—most notably Oliver (136, 137)—have argued that the putative benefits of mass dietary change are based on inferences from observational and weak quasi-experimental evidence. Most authorities, however, accept that focusing purely on clinical detection and treatment strategies will miss an opportunity to produce beneficial changes in risk profile for the majority of those who are otherwise likely to develop CHD. It is also argued, tellingly, that gradual and widespread adoption of new eating habits is less disruptive than clinically supervised changes in diet. However, even if there is a partial consensus on the merits of community-wide dietary change, there is uncertainty about how best to accelerate existing trends. Fortunately, modest dietary changes on a population-wide basis are already occurring. In the aggregate, these changes should reduce the incidence of CHD and, perhaps, other diseases (notably some forms of cancer), without severe effects on individuals and families.

In sum, the most prudent cholesterol-related policies appear to consist in the development of separate but complementary clinical and population strategies. We believe the clinical strategy should focus on adults, with extremely selective testing of older children in families at risk for genetic dyslipidemias. Adult testing for dyslipidemia itself should be opportunistic and should occur on a case-finding basis in primary care rather than through mass screening outside the clinical setting or as part of some combined clinical and community strategy. Arguably, testing might better focus on those who demonstrably have the most to gain from treatment, i.e. persons with multiple risk factors or established CHD. Even if widespread and periodic testing of adults in the clinical setting is endorsed, the treatment priorities remain selective, and dietary advice is the cornerstone of intervention. There seems to be limited yield from pressing physicians into service on behalf of a population strategy, i.e. by urging them to undertake dietary education for all patients at a time when many primary care practices are already struggling to cope with guidelines for selective and individualized treatment. Moreover, the impressive shifts in eating habits across many industrialized countries illustrate that individual clinical interactions are not the drivers of change. Instead, a concatenation of factors—legislation, regulation, publicity, and education—have all contributed to positive trends during the last two decades. Continued investment in the promotion of prudent dietary norms seems well worthwhile, along with more research into the myriad metabolic, clinical, and behavioral interrelationships among diet, health, and disease.

Any Annual Review chapter, as well as any article cited in an Annual Review chapter, may be purchased from the Annual Reviews Preprints and Reprints service.

1-800-347-8007; 415-259-5017; email: arpr@class.org

Literature Cited

- American Academy of Pediatrics, Committee on Nutrition. 1992. Statement on Cholesterol. *Pediatrics* 90:469-73
- Arntzenius AC, Kromhout D, Barth JD, Reiber JH, Bruschke AV, et al. 1985. Diet, lipoproteins and the progression of coronary atherosclerosis: The Leiden Intervention Trial. N. Engl. J. Med. 312: 805-11
- Assmann G, Schulte H. 1994. Identification of individuals at high risk for myocardial infarction. Atherosclerosis 110(Suppl.):S11-21
- Avis NE, Smith KW, McKinlay JB. 1989. Accuracy of perceptions of heart attack risk: what influences perceptions and can they be changed? Am. J. Publ. Health 79(12):1608-12
- Bandura A. 1977. Social Learning Theory. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall

- Baron JA, Gleason R, Crowe B, Mann JI. 1990. Preliminary trial of the effect of general practice based nutritional advice. Br. J. Gen. Pract. 40:137-41
- Barratt A, Reznik R, Irwig L, Cuff A, Simpson JM, et al. 1994. Worksite cholesterol screening and dietary intervention: The Staff Healthy Heart Project. Am. J. Publ. Health 84:779– 82
- Betteridge DJ, Dodson PM, Durrington PN, Hughes EA, Laker MF, et al. 1993.
 Management of hyperlipidemia: guidelines of the British Hyperlipidaemia Association. Postgrad. Med. J. 69:359-69
- Black JS, Sefcik T, Kapoor W. 1990. Health promotion and disease prevention in the elderly. Arch. Intern. Med. 150:389-93
- Bobbio M, Demichelis B, Giustetto.
 1994. Completeness of reporting trial

- results: effect on physicians' willingness to prescribe. *Lancet* 343:1209-11
- Breidenstein BC. 1988. Changes in consumer attitudes toward red meat and their effects on marketing strategies. Food Technol. January: 112-16
- British Cardiac Society Working Group on Coronary Prevention. 1987. Conclusions and recommendations. Br. Heart J. 57:188-89
- Brown G, Albers JJ, Fisher LD, Schaefer SM, Lin J, et al. 1990. Regression of coronary artery disease as a result of intensive lipid-lowering therapy in men with high levels of apolipoprotein B. N. Engl. J. Med. 323(19):1289-98
- Browner WS. 1986. Estimating the impact of risk factor modification programs. Am. J. Epidemiol. 123:143-53
- Browner W, Baron R, Sokowitz S, Adler L, Gullian D. 1992. Physician management of hypercholesterolemia: randomized trial of continuing medical education. Clin. Res. 40:577A (Abstr.)
- Bruno R, Arnold C, Jacobson L, Winick M, Wynder E. 1983. Randomized controlled trial of a nonpharmacologic cholesterol reduction program at the worksite. Prev. Med. 12:523-32
- Bucher HC, Weinbacher M, Gyr K. 1994. Influence of method of reporting study results on decision of physicians to prescribe drugs to lower cholesterol concentration. Br. Med. J. 309:761-64
- Buchwald H, Campos CT, Boen JR, Nguyen P, Williams SE. 1994. Diseasefree interval assessments after partial ileal bypass in coronary heart disease patients. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 23:389A (Abstr.)
- Cade J, Booth S. 1990. What can people eat to meet the dietary goals, and how much does it cost? J. Hum. Nutr. Diet 3:199-207
- Campbell MK, DeVellis BM, Strecher VJ, Ammerman AS, DeVellis RF, Sandler RS. 1994. Improving dietary behavior: the effectiveness of tailored messages in primary care settings. Am. J. Publ. Health 84:783-87
- Canadian Consensus Conference on Cholesterol. 1988. Final report. Can. Med. Assoc. J. 139(Suppl.):1-8
- Canadian Lipoprotein Conference Ad Hoc Committee on Guidelines for Dyslipoproteinemia. 1990. Guidelines for the detection of high-risk lipoprotein profiles and the treatment of dyslipoproteinemias. Can. Med. Assoc. J. 142: 1371–82
- 23. Canadian Task Force on the Periodic Health Examination. 1979. The periodic

- health examination. Can. Med. Assoc. J. 121:1193-254
- Canadian Task Force on the Periodic Health Examination. 1993. Periodic health examination, 1993 update: 2. Lowering the blood total cholesterol level to prevent coronary heart disease. Can. Med. Assoc. J. 148(4):521-38
- Carleton RA, Lasater TM, Assaf AR, Feldman HA, McKinlay S, et al. 1995. The Pawtucket Heart Health Program: community changes in cardiovascular risk factors and projected disease risk. Am. J. Publ. Health 85:777-85
- Castelli WP, Garrison RJ, Wilson PW, Abbott RD, Kalousdian S, Kannel WB. 1986. Incidence of coronary heart disease and lipoprotein cholesterol levels. The Framingham Study. JAMA 256: 2835–38
- Charlson ME, Alderman M, Melcher L. 1982. Absenteeism and labelling in hypertensive subjects. Prevention of an adverse impact in those at high risk. JAMA 73:165-70
- Cole-Hamilton I, Lang T. 1986. Tightening Belts. A Report on Poverty and Food. London: London Food Commission
- Collins R, Keech A, Peto R, Sleight P, Kjekshus J, et al. 1992. Cholesterol and total mortality: need for larger trials. Br. Med. J. 304:1689
- Communications/Implementation Committee (Health and Welfare Canada).
 1990. Action Towards Healthy Eating: Canada's Guidelines for Healthy Eating and Recommended Strategies for Implementation.
 Ottawa: Minister of Supply and Services Canada
- Consensus Panel. 1992. The management of hyperlipidaemia: a consensus statement. Med. J. Aust. 156(Suppl.): S1-16
- Crawford DA, Baghurst KI. 1990. Diet and health: a national survey of beliefs, behaviors, and barriers to change in the community. Aust. J. Nutr. Diet 47:97– 104
- Crouch M, Sallis JF, Farquhar JW, Haskell WL, Ellsworth NM, et al. 1986. Personal and mediated health counselling for sustained dietary reduction of hypercholesterolemia. *Prev. Med.* 15: 282-91
- Cucherat M, Boissel J-P. 1993. Metaanalysis of results from clinical trials on prevention of coronary heart disease by lipid-lowering interventions. Clin. Trials Meta-Anal. 28:109-29
- Dales LG, Friedman GD, Ramcharan S, Siegelaub AB, Cambell BA, et al. 1973. Multiphasic checkup evaluation study.

- 3. Outpatient clinic utilization, hospitalization, and mortality experience after seven years. Prev. Med. 2:221-35
- 36. Davey Smith G, Pekkanen J. 1992. Should there be a moratorium on the use of cholesterol lowering drugs? Br. Med. J. 304:431-34
- Davey Smith G, Song F, Sheldon TA. 1993. Cholesterol lowering and mortality: the importance of considering initial level of risk. Br. Med. J. 306:1367-73
- 38. Davis CE, Rifkind BM, Brenner H, Gordon DJ. 1990. A single cholesterol measurement underestimates the risk of coronary heart disease. JAMA 264: 3044-46
- Denke MA. 1994. Individual responsiveness to a cholesterol-lowering diet in post-menopausal women with moderate hypercholesterolemia, Arch. Intern. Med. 154(17):1977-82
- 40. Denke MA. 1995. Cholesterol-lowering diets. A review of the evidence. Arch. Intern. Med. 155:17-26
- Denke MA, Grundy SM. 1994. Individual responses to a cholesterol-lowering diet in 50 men with moderate hypercholesterolemia. Arch. Intern. Med. 154 (3):317-25
- 42. Dennison BA, Jenkins PL, Pearson TA. 1994. Challenges to implementing the current pediatric cholesterol screening guidelines into practice. Pediatrics 94 (3):296-302
- 43. Diller PM, Huster GA, Leach AD, Laskarzewski PM, Sprecher DL. 1995. Definition and application of the discretionary screening indicators according to the National Cholesterol Education Program for Children and Adolescents. J. Pediatr. 126(3):345–52
- 44. Elder JP, McGraw SA, Abrams DB, Ferreira A, Lasater TM, et al. 1986. Organizational and community approaches to community-wide prevention of heart disease: the first two years of the Pawtucket Heart Health Program. Prev. Med. 15:107-17
- Expert Panel on Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol in Adults. 1988. Report of the National Cholesterol Education Program. Arch. Intern. Med. 148:36-69
- Expert Panel on Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol in Adults. 1993. Summary of the second report of the National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP). JAMA 269(23):3015-23
- Expert Panel on Population Strategies for Blood Cholesterol Reduction. 1991. A statement from the National Choles-Education Program, National

- Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute, National Institutes of Health. Circulation 83(6):2154-232
- 48. Family Heart Study Group. 1994. Randomized controlled trial evaluating cardiovascular screening and intervention in general practice: principle results of British family heart study. Br. Med. J. 308:313-20

CHOLESTEROL POLICY

- Farquhar JW, Fortmann SP, Flora JA, Taylor B, Haskell WL, et al. 1990. Effects of communitywide education on cardiovascular risk factors: The Stanford Five-City Project. JAMA 264(3): 359-65
- 50. Farquhar JW, Fortmann SP, Maccoby N. Haskell WL. Williams PT. et al. 1985. The Stanford Five-City Project: design and methods. Am. J. Epidemiol. 122:323-34
- Farquhar JW, Maccoby N, Wood PD, Alexander JK, Breitrose H, et al. 1977. Community education for cardiovasular health. Lancet 1:1192-95
- Farrow L, Taylor WC, Arnold RM. 52. 1992. Absolutely relative: how research results are summarized can affect treatment decisions, Am. J. Med. 29:121-24
- Feldman W. 1990. Routine cholesterol surveillance in childhood. Pediatrics 86: 150 (Letter)
- 54. Flay BR, DiTecco D, Schlegel RP. 1980. Mass media in health promotion: an analysis using extended informationprocessing model. Health Educ. Q. 7: 127-47
- Frank E, Winkleby MA, Fortemann SP, Rockhill B, Farquhar JW. 1992. Improved cholesterol-related knowledge and behavior and plasma cholesterol levels in adults during the 1980s. JAMA 268(12):1566-72
- Gemson DH, Elinson J. 1986. Prevention in primary care: variability in physician practice patterns in New York City. Am. J. Prev. Med. 2:226-34
- 57. Giles WH, Anda RF, Jones DH, Serdula MK, Merritt RK, DeStafano F. 1993. Recent trends in the identification and treatment of high blood cholesterol by physicians: progress and missed opportunities. JAMA 269:1133-38
- 58. Glanz K, Mullis R. 1988. Environmental interventions to promote healthy eating: a review of models, programs, and evidence. Health Educ. Q. 15:395-415
- Glanz K, Seewald-Klein T. 1986. Nutrition at the worksite: an overview. J. Nutr. Educ. 18(1):S1-12
- Golier JA, Marzuk PM, Leon AC, Weiner C, Tardiff K. 1995. Low serum cholesterol level and attempted suicide. Am. J. Psychiatry 152(3):419-23

- Goodman R, Steckler A, Hoover S, Schwartz R. 1993. A critique of contemporary community health promotion approaches: based on a qualitative review of six programs in Maine. Am. J. Health Promot. 7:208-21
- Gould AL, Rossouw JE, Santanello NC, Heyse JF, Furberg CD. 1995. Cholesterol reduction yields clinical benefit: a new look at old data. Circulation 91: 2274-82
- Grimshaw JM, Russell IT. 1993. Effect of clinical guidelines on medical practice: a systematic review of rigorous evaluations. Lancet 342:1317-22
- Grover SA, Coupal L, Hu X. 1995. Identifying adults at increased risk of coronary disease. How well do cholesterol guidelines work? *JAMA* 274 (10): 801-6
- Grover SA, Lowensteyn I, Esrey KL, Steinert Y, Joseph L, Abrahamowicz M. 1995. Do doctors accurately assess coronary risk in their patients? Preliminary results of the coronary health assessment study. Br. Med. J. 310:975–78
- Grover SA, Palmer CS, Coupal L. 1994. Serum lipid screening to identify highrisk individuals for coronary death. The results of the Lipid Research Clinics prevalence cohort. Arch. Intern. Med. 154(6):679-84
- Grundy SM, Bilheimer D, Blackburn H, Brown VW, Kwiterovich PO, et al. 1982. Rationale of the diet-heart statement of the American Heart Association. Report of the Nutrition Committee. Circulation 65:839-54A
- Harris T, Havlik R, Ettinger WH. 1995.
 Cholesterol and coronary heart disease risk in elderly patients. JAMA 273(17): 1329 (Letter)
- Havas S, Reisman J, Hsu L, Koumjian L. 1991. Does cholesterol screening result in negative labelling effects? Arch. Intern. Med. 51:115-35
- Haynes RB, Sackett DL, Taylor DW, Gibson ES, Johnson AL. 1978. Increased absenteeism from work after detection and labelling of hypertensive patients. N. Engl. J. Med. 299:741–44
- Headrick LA, Speroff T, Pelecanos HI, Cebul RD. 1992. Efforts to improve compliance with the National Cholesterol Education Program guidelines. Results of a randomized controlled trial. Arch. Intern. Med. 152:2490-96
- Hegsted DM, Augman LM, Johnson JA, Dallal GE. 1993. Dietary fat and serum lipids: an evaluation of experimental data. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 57:875-83
- Hellenius ML, Dahlof C, Aberg H, Krakau I, de Faire U. 1995. Quality of

- life is not negatively affected by diet and exercise intervention in healthy men with cardiovascular risk factors. *Qual. Life Res.* 4(1):13-20
- Hjermann I, Holme I, Velve Byre K, Leren P. 1981. Effect of diet and smoking intervention on the incidence of coronary heart disease. *Lancet* 2:1303– 10
- Holme I. 1990. An analysis of randomized trials evaluating the effect of cholesterol reduction on total mortality and coronary heart disease incidence. Circulation 82:1916-24
- Hulley SB, Newman TB. 1992. Position statement: cholesterol screening in children is not indicated, even with positive family history. J. Am. Coll. Nutr. 11(S): 20-22S
- Hulley SB, Newman TB. 1994. Cholesterol in the elderly: is it important?
 JAMA 272(17):1372-74
- Hulley SB, Newman TB, Grady D, Garber AM, Baron RB, Browner WS. 1993. Should we be measuring blood cholesterol levels in young adults? *JAMA* 269: 1416–19
- Hunninghake DB, Stein EA, Dujovne CA, Harris WS, Feldman EB, et al. 1993. The efficacy of intensive dietary therapy alone or combined with Lovastatin in outpatients with hypercholesterolemia. N. Engl. J. Med. 328: 1213-19
- Hux JE, Naylor CD. 1995. Communicating the benefits of chronic preventive therapy: does the format of efficacy data determine patients' acceptance of treatment? Med. Decis. Making 15:152-57
- Imperial Cancer Research Fund OX-CHECK Study Group. 1995. Effectiveness of health checks conducted by nurses in primary care: final results of the OXCHECK study. Br. Med. J. 310: 1099-104
- International Task Force for the Prevention of Coronary Heart Disease, European Atherosclerosis Society. 1992. Prevention of coronary heart disease: scientific background and new clinical guidelines. Nutr. Metab. Cardiovasc. Dis. 2:113-56
- Inter-Society Commission for Heart Disease Resources. 1970. Primary prevention of the atherosclerotic diseases. Circulation 42:A55–98
- Irish Hyperlipidaemia Association.
 1992. Guidelines for the Management of Hyperlipidaemia. Dublin: Irish Hyperlipidaemia Assoc. 3rd ed.
- Irvine J, Logan AG. 1994. Is knowing your cholesterol number harmful? J. Clin. Epidemiol. 47(2):131-45

- Jacobs DR, Blackburn H. 1993. Models of effects of low blood cholesterol on the public health: implications for practice and policy. *Circulation* 87(3):1033– 36
- Jacobs DR, Muldoon MF, Rastam L. 1995. Invited commentary: low blood cholesterol, nonillness mortality, and other nonatherosclerotic disease mortality: a search for causes and confounders. Am. J. Epidemiol. 141(6):518-22
- Johnston JM, Jansen GR, Anderson J, Kendall P. 1994. Comparison of group diet instruction to a self-directed program for cholesterol reduction. J. Nutr. Educ. 26:140-45
- Katz DL. 1995. Cholesterol and coronary heart disease risk in elderly patients. JAMA 273(17):1329-30 (Letter)
- Keys A, Anderson JT, Grande F. 1959. Serum cholesterol in man: diet fat and intrinsic responsiveness. Circulation 19: 201-14
- Kinosian B, Glick H, Garland G. 1994. Cholesterol and coronary heart disease: predicting risks by levels and ratios. Ann. Intern. Med. 121:641-47
- Krishnaswami S, Jose VJ, Joseph G. 1994. Lack of correlation between coronary risk factors and CAD severity. Int. J. Cardiol. 47(1):37-43
- Kronmal RA, Cain KC, Ye Z, Omenn GS. 1993. Total serum cholesterol levels and mortality risk as a function of age. A report based on the Framingham data. Arch. Intern. Med. 153:1065-73
- Krumholz HM, Seeman TE, Merrill SS, Mendes de Leon CF, Vaccarino V, et al. 1994. Lack of association between cholesterol and coronary heart disease mortality and morbidity and all-cause mortality in persons older than 70 years. JAMA 272:1335-40
- Lauer RM, Clarke WR. 1990. Use of cholesterol measurements in childhood for the prediction of adult hypercholesterolemia. The Muscatine Study. JAMA 264:3034-38
- Law MR, Thompson SG, Wald NJ. 1994. Assessing possible hazards of reducing serum cholesterol. Br. Med. J. 308:373-79
- Law MR, Wald NJ, Thompson SG. 1994. By how much and how quickly does reduction in serum cholesterol concentration lower risk of ischemic heart disease? Br. Med. J. 308:367-73
- Lefebvre CR, Peterson GS, McGraw SA, Lasater TM, Sennett L, et al. 1986. Community intervention to lower blood cholesterol: the "Know Your Cholesterol" campaign in Pawtucket, Rhode Island. Health Educ. Q. 13:117-29

- Levin SJ, Ornstein SM. 1990. Management of hypercholesterolemia in a family practice setting. J. Fam. Pract. 31: 613-17
- Light L, Portnoy B, Blair JE, Smith JM, Rodgers AB, et al. 1989. Nutrition education in supermarkets. Fam. Commun. Health 12(1):43-52
- Lindholm LH, Ekbom T, Dash C, Eriksson M, Tibblin G, et al. 1995. The impact of health care advice given in primary care on cardiovasular risk. Br. Med. J. 310:1105-9
- 102. Llewellyn-Thomas HA, Paterson JM, Carter JA, Hardacre GD, Dunn EV, Naylor CD. 1994. Cholesterol-lowering medication in primary prevention: can physicians meet patients' "demands" of reduced coronary risk? Med. Decis. Making 14(4):436 (Abstr.)
- Lloyd HM, Paisley CM, Mela DJ. 1995. Barriers to the adoption of reduced-fat diets in a UK population. J. Am. Diet. Assoc. 95:316-22
- 104. Lomas J, Anderson GM, Domnick-Pierre K, Vayda E, Enkin MW, Hannah WJ. 1989. Do practice guidelines guide practice? The effect of a consensus statement on the practice of physicians. N. Engl. J. Med. 321:1306-11
- 105. Luepker RV, Murray DM, Jacobs DR, Mittelmark MB, Bracht N, et al. 1994. Community education for cardiovascular disease prevention: risk factor changes in the Minnesota Heart Health Program. Am. J. Publ. Health 84(9): 1383-93
- MacLean DR. 1994. Theoretical rationale of community intervention for the prevention and control of cardiovascular disease. Health Rep. 6(1):174-79
- MacMahon S. 1992. Lowering cholesterol: effects on trauma death, cancer death, and total mortality. Aust. NZ J. Med. 22(Suppl. 5):580-82
- Madlon-Kay DJ. 1989. Improvement in family physician recognition and treatment of hypercholesterolemia. Arch. Intern. Med. 149:1754-55
- Mancini GBJ. 1995. Mechanisms underlying reduction of clinical events in lipid lowering trials. Can. J. Cardiol. 11(Suppl. C):15-17C
- Mann JI, Crooke M, Fear H. 1993. Guidelines for detection and management of dyslipidaemias. NZ Med. J. 106:133-41
- Manson JE. 1994. Postmenopausal hormone replacement therapy and atherosclerotic disease. Am. Heart J. 128: 1337-43
- 112. McAllister M, Baghurst K, Record S. 1994. Financial costs of healthful eating:

- a comparison of three different approaches. J. Nutr. Educ. 26:131-39
- McCann BS, Retzlaf BM, Dowdy AA, Walden CE, Knopp RH. 1990. Promoting adherence to low-fat, low-cholesterol diets: review and recommendations. J. Am. Diet. Assoc. 90:1408-14
- 114. McGee D. 1973. The probability of developing certain cardiovascular diseases in eight years at specified values of some characteristics. Framingham Section 28. US Dep. Health Educ. Welfare Publ. No. (NIH) 74-618
- 115. McIsaac WJ, Naylor CD, Basinski A. 1991. Mismatch of coronary risk and treatment intensity under the National Cholesterol Education Program guidelines. J. Gen. Intern. Med. 6: 518-23
- Milne BJ, Logan AG, Flanagan PT.
 1985. Alteration in health perception and life-style in treated hypertensives.
 J. Chron. Dis. 38:37-45
- 117. Mittelmark MB, Hunt MK, Heath GW, Schmid TL. 1993. Realistic outcomes: lessons from community-based research and demonstration programs for the prevention of cardiovascular diseases. J. Publ. Health Policy 14(4):437-62
- 118. Mittelmark MB, Luepker RV, Jacobs DR, Bracht NF, Carlaw RW, et al. 1986. Community-wide prevention of cardiovascular disease: education strategies of the Minnesota Heart Health Program. Prev. Med. 15:1-17
- Mooney C. 1990. Cost and availability of healthy food choices in a London health district. J. Hum. Nutr. Diet 3: 111-20
- Morgan RE, Palinkas LA, Barrett-Connor EL, Wingard DL. 1993. Plasma cholesterol and depressive symptoms in older men. Lancet 341:75-79
- Muldoon M, Manuck S, Mathews K. 1990. Lowering cholesterol concentrations and mortality: a quantitative review of primary prevention trials. Br. Med. J. 301:309–14
- Mullis RM, Hunt MK, Foster M, Hachfeld L, Lansing D, et al. 1987. The shop smart for your heart grocery program. J. Nutr. Educ. 19(5):225–28
- Multiple Risk Factor Intervention Trial Research Group. 1982. Multiple Risk Factor Intervention Trial. Risk factor changes and mortality results. *JAMA* 248:1465-77
- Murray TK, Rae JR. 1979. Nutrition recommendations for Canadians. Can. Med. Assoc. J. 120:1241-42
- 125. National Cholesterol Education Program. 1991. Report of the Expert Panel on Blood Cholesterol Levels in Children

- and Adolescents. NIH Publ. No. 91-2732. Bethesda MD: US Dep. Health Hum. Serv., Public Health Serv.
- National Diet-Heart Study Research Group. 1968. National Diet-Heart Study final report. Circulation 37(Suppl. 1): 11-428
- Naylor CD, Basinski A, Frank JW, Rachlis MM. 1990. Asymptomatic hypercholesterolemia: a clinical policy review. J. Clin. Epidemiol. 43(10):1021– 121
- Naylor CD, Chen E, Strauss B. 1992. Measured enthusiasm: does the method of reporting trial results alter perceptions of therapeutic effectiveness? Ann. Intern. Med. 117:916-21
- Neil HAW, Roe L, Godlee RJP, Moore JW, Clark GMG, et al. 1995. Randomized trial of lipid lowering dietary advice in general practice: the effects on serum lipids, lipoproteins, and antioxidants. Br. Med. J. 310:569-73
- Nestle M. 1993. Food lobbies, the food pyramid, and U.S. nutrition policy. *Int.* J. Health Serv. 23(3):483-96
- Newman TB, Browner WS, Hulley SB. 1990. The case against childhood cholesterol screening. JAMA 264(23):3039– 43
- Nieto FJ, Alonso J, Chambless LE, Zhong M, Ceraso M, et al. 1995. Population awareness and control of hypertension and hypercholesterolemia. Arch. Intern. Med. 155:677–84
- Niknian M, McKinlay SM, Rakowski W, Carleton RA. 1989. A comparison of perceived and objective CVD risk in a general population. Am. J. Publ. Health 79(12):1653-54
- Nutbeam D, Smith C, Murphy S, Catford J. 1993. Maintaining evaluation designs in long term community based health promotion programmes: Heartbeat Wales case study. J. Epidemiol. Commun. Health 47:127-33
- Nutrition Committee. 1993. Rationale of the diet-heart statement of the American Heart Association. Circulation 88 (6):3008-29
- 136. Oliver MF. 1981. Serum cholesterol the knave of hearts and the joker. Lancet 2:1090-95
- Oliver MF. 1984. Coronary risk factors: should we not forget about mass control? World Health Forum 5:5-8
- Pearson TA. 1991. Guidelines for the detection and treatment of elevated serum cholesterol: Which is the baby and which is the bathwater? Ann. Intern. Med. 115(4):324-26
- Pietinen P, Nissinen A, Vartiainen E, Tuomilehto A, Uusitalo U, et al. 1988.

- Dietary changes in the North Karelia Project. Prev. Med. 17:183-93
- 140. Polk BF, Harlan LC, Cooper SP, Stromer M, Ignatius J, et al. 1984. Disability days associated with detection and treatment in a hypertension control program. Am. J. Epidemiol. 119:44-53
- 141. Puska PP, Nissinen A, Tuomilehto J, Salonen JT, Koskela K, et al. 1985. The community-based strategy to prevent coronary heart disease: conclusions from the ten years of the North Karelia Project. Annu. Rev. Publ. Health 6:147– 93
- Putnam JJ. 1991. Food consumption, 1970–90. Food Rev. 14(3):2–11
- 143. Pyorala K, Debacker G, Graham I, Poole-Wilson P, Wood D, et al. 1994. Prevention of coronary heart disease in clinical practice. Recommendations of the Task Force of the European Society of Cardiology, European Atherosclerosis Society, and the European Society of Hypertension. Eur. Heart J. 15:1300–31
- 144. Ramsay LE, Yeo WW, Jackson PR. 1991. Dietary reduction of serum cholesterol concentration: time to think again? Br. Med. J. 303:953–57
- 145. Rastam L, Luepker RV, Pirie PL. 1988. Effect of screening and referral on follow-up and treatment of high blood cholesterol levels. Am. J. Prev. Med. 4:244-48
- Ravnskov U. 1992. Cholesterol lowering trials in coronary heart disease: frequency of citation and outcome. Br. Med. J. 305:15-19
- Ravnskov U. 1995. Quotation bias in reviews of the diet-heart idea. J. Clin. Epidemiol. 48(5):713-19
- 148. Reeves RS, Foreyt JP, Scott LW, Mitchell RE, Wohlleb J, Gotto AM. 1983. Effects of a low cholesterol eating plan on plasma lipids: results of a three-year community study. Am. J. Publ. Health 73:873-77
- 149. Resnicow K, Berenson G, Shea S, Srinivasan S, Strong W, Wynder EL. 1991. The case against "the case against child-hood cholesterol screening." *JAMA* 265: 3003–5
- Rogers LQ, Johnson KC, Arheart KL. 1993. Current physician screening and treatment of hypercholesterolemic patients. Am. J. Med. Sci 306(2):124–28
- 151. Rosenman RH. 1993. The questionable roles of the diet and serum cholesterol in the incidence of ischemic heart disease and its 20th century changes. Homeostasis 34:1-44
- Rosser WW, Palmer WH. 1993. Dissemination of guidelines on cholesterol.

- Effect on patterns of practice of general practitioners and family physicians in Ontario. Can. Fam. Phys. 39:280-84
- 153. Salomaa V, Arstila M, Kaarsalo E, Ketonen M, Kuulasmaa K, et al. 1992. Trends in the incidence of and mortality from coronary heart disease in Finland, 1983–1988. Am. J. Epidemiol. 136(11): 1303–15
- 154. Salonen JT, Puska P, Kottke TE, Tuomilehto J, Nissinen A. 1983. Decline in mortality from coronary heart disease in Finland from 1969–1979. Br. Med. J. 286:1857–60
- 155. Scandanavian Simvastatin Survival Study Group. 1994. Randomized trial of cholesterol lowering in 4444 patients with coronary heart disease: the Scandanavian simvastatin survival study. Lancet 344:383-89
- Schucker B, Wittes JT, Santanello NC, Weber SJ, McGoldrick D, et al. 1991. Change in cholesterol awareness and action. Results from national physician and public surveys. Arch. Intern. Med. 151:666-73
- Schwartz NE. 1989. The president's corner. NIN Rapport 4:3
- Sempos CT, Cleeman JI, Carroll MD, Johnson CL, Bachorik PS, et al. 1993. Prevalence of high blood cholesterol among US adults. JAMA 269(23):3009– 14
- 159. Shepherd J, Betteridge DJ, Durrington P, Laker M, Lewis B, et al. 1987. Strategies for reducing coronary heart disease and desirable limits for blood lipid concentrations: guidelines of the British Hyperlipidaemia Association. Br. Med. J. 295:1245–46
- 159a. Shepherd J, Cobbe SM, Ford I, Isle CG, Lorimer AR, Macfarlane PW, et al. 1995. Prevention of coronary heart disease with pravastatin in men with hypercholesterolemia. N. Engl. J. Med. 333:1301-7
- Silberberg JS. 1994. After the metaanalyses: a commentary on treatment of dyslipidemia in the primary prevention of coronary heart disease. Aust. NZ J. Med. 24:717-21
- Singleton SP, Neale AV, Scott RO, Hess JW. 1988. Cholesterol reduction among volunteers in a health promotion project. Am. J. Health Promot. 2:5–12
- South-East London Screening Study Group. 1977. A controlled trial of multiphasic screening in middle-age: results of the South-East London Screening Study. Int. J. Epidemiol. 6:357-63
- 163. Stamler J, Wentworth D, Neaton JD. 1986. Is relationship between serum cholesterol and risk of premature death

- from coronary heart disease continuous and graded? *JAMA* 256:2823-28
- 164. Stamos T, Rosenson RS. 1995. Cholesterol and coronary heart disease risk in elderly patients. JAMA 273(17):1330 (Letter)
- 165. Stampfer MJ, Colditz GA. 1991. Estrogen replacement therapy and coronary heart disease: a quantitative assessment of the epidemiologic evidence. Prev. Med. 20:47-63
- Stampfer MJ, Sacks FM, Salvini S, Willett WC, Hennekens CH. 1991. A prospective study of cholesterol, apolipoproteins, and the risk of myocardial infarction. N. Engl. J. Med. 325(6):373-81
- Stanhope JM, Sampson VM, Prior IAM. 1981. The Tokelau Island migrant study: serum lipid concentrations in two environments. J. Chron. Dis. 34:45-55
- Statistics Canada. 1985. Family Food Expenditures in Canada, 1982. Ottawa: Minister of Supply and Services Canada
- 169. Statistics Canada. 1989. Family Food Expenditures in Canada, 1986. Ottawa: Minister of Supply and Services Canada
- Stehbens WE. 1993. The quality of epidemiological data in coronary heart disease and atherosclerosis. J. Clin. Epidemiol. 46(12):1337-46
- Stern MP, Farquhar JW, Maccoby N, Russell SH. 1976. Results of a two-year health education campaign on dietary behavior. Circulation 54:826-33
- 172. Study Group of the European Atherosclerosis Society. 1988. The recognition and management of hyperlipidemia in adults: a policy statement of the European Atherosclerosis Society. Eur. Heart J. 9:571-600
- Surgeon-General's Report on Nutrition and Health, Publ. No. 88-50210. 1988.
 Washington, DC: Dep. Health Hum. Serv.
- 174. Tannenbaum TN, Sampalis JS, Battista RN, Rosenberg ER, Joseph L. 1990. Early detection and treatment of hyper-lipidemia: physician practices in Canada. Can. Med. Assoc. J. 143(9):875-81
- Taylor CB, Fortmann SP, Flora J, Kayman S, Barrett DC, et al. 1991. Effect of long-term community health education on body mass index. Am. J. Epidemiol. 134:235–49
- Tell GS, Evans GW, Folsom AR, Shi-makawa T, Carpenter MA, Heiss G. 1994. Dietary fat intake and carotid wall thickness: the Atherosclerotic Risk in Communities (ARIC) Study. Am. J. Epidemiol. 139(10):979-89

- Trichopoulou A, ed. 1990. Recommended dietary intakes in the EEC: scientific evidence and public health considerations. A workshop. Eur. J. Clin. Nutr. 44(Suppl. 2):1-125
- Truswell AS. 1994. Review of dietary intervention studies: effect on coronary events and on total mortality. Aust. NZ J. Med. 24:98-106
- 179. US Department of Agriculture, Human Nutrition Information Service. 1985. Nationwide Food Consumption Survey Continuing Survey of Food Intakes by Individuals: Women 19-50 Years and Their Children 1-5 Years. NFCS, CSFII Rep. No. 85-1. Hyattsville, MD: US Dep. Agric.
- 180. US Department of Agriculture, Human Nutrition Information Service. 1985. Nationwide Food Consumption Survey Continuing Survey of Food Intakes by Individuals: Men 19-50 Years. NFCS, CSFII Rep. No. 85-3. Hyattsville, MD: US Dep. Agric.
- US Senate Select Committee on Nutrition and Human Needs. 1977. Dietary Goals for the United States. Cambridge: MIT Press
- 182. Vartiainen E, Puska P, Jousilahti P, Korhonen HJ, Tuomilehto J, Nissinen A. 1994. Twenty-year trends in coronary risk factors in North Karelia and in other areas of Finland. Int. J. Epidemiol. 23: 495-504
- 183. Verschuren WM, Jacobs DR, Bloemberg BP, Kromhout D, Menotti A, et al. 1995. Serum total cholesterol and long-term coronary heart disease mortality in different cultures. Twenty-five-year follow-up of the seven countries study. JAMA 274(2):131-36
- 184. Wagner EH, Strogatz DS. 1984. Hypertension labelling and well-being. Alternative explanations in cross-sectional data. J. Chron. Dis. 37:943-47
- Weinstein ND. 1983. Reducing unrealistic optimism about illness susceptibility. Health Psychol. 2(1):11-20
- Wilhelmensen L, Berglund G, Elmfeld D, et al. 1986. The multifactor primary prevention trial in Goteborg, Sweden. Eur. Heart J. 7:279-88
- Wilson MG. 1991. Cholesterol reduction in the workplace and in community settings. J. Commun. Health 16(1):49–65
- Witschi JC, Singer M, Wu-Lee M, Stare FJ. 1978. Family cooperation and effectiveness in a cholesterol-lowering diet. J. Am. Diet. Assoc. 72:284–88